2011

Mojo Syndicate Inc., and A Bar Named Sue LLC v. 3928 LLC and John Fredrickson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

The jurisdiction of all appellate courts "shall be provided by statute."¹ Section 78A-3-102(3)(j) (2009) of the Utah Code provides that: "The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction..., over orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction[.]" This is an appeal from the final judgment of the Third District Court in a civil matter and, although it has original appellate jurisdiction, the Utah Supreme Court has transferred this matter to the Court of Appeals pursuant to §78A-3-102(4), which provide that the Supreme Court may transfer any matter over which it has original appellate jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Whether the Utah Court of Appeals should reverse the dismissal of Mojo Plaintiffs' case on summary judgment when Mojo Plaintiffs' counsel did not provide adequate representation and was likely affected by his improper conduct and disability?

Standard of Review: A constitutional claim for ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Lenkart*, 2011 UT 27, ¶ 20, 262 P.3d 1. The appellate court reviews the trial court's application of the law to the facts under a correctness standard. *Id.* "If there are factual findings to review, [the appellate court] will not set them aside unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id.*

¹ Utah Const., Article VIII, § 5.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Preservation of the Record: This issue was not preserved in the Trial Court. Mojo Plaintiffs' prior counsel, Charles C. Brown, represented Mojo Plaintiffs through the litigation phase, filed the Notice of Appeal and Docketing Statement, and was later placed on "Disability" status by the Office of Professional Conduct. Therefore, Mojo Plaintiffs were unable to preserve the issue in the record below.

(2) Whether the Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment and dismissing Mojo Plaintiffs' claims when the Mojo Plaintiffs substantively followed Rules 7 and 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in connection with Fredrickson Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

Standard of Review: "Because entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, no deference is due the trial court's determination of the issue." *Sanderson v. First Sec. Leasing Co.*, 844 P.2d 303, 304 (Utah 1992) (citing *Ward v. Richfield City*, 798 P.2d 757, 79 (Utah 1990)). "An appellate court reviews a trial court's 'legal conclusions and ultimate grant of denial of summary judgment' for correctness, and views 'the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn there-from in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.'" *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, 177 P.3d 600, 601 (citing *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993)).

Preservation of Issue: Mojo Plaintiffs preserved this issue in the record in Plaintiffs Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, (R. 1421-1562);

Objection to Proposed Order Granting Summary Judgment, (R. 1731-35); Motion to Set Aside Summary Judgment and Request for Hearing, (R. 1919-1959).

(3) Whether the Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the Fredrickson Defendants and dismissing the Mojo Plaintiffs' claims when there were genuine issues of material fact that prevented summary judgment on each of the five claims?

Standard of Review: "Because entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, no deference is due the trial court's determination of the issue." *Sanderson v. First Sec. Leasing Co.*, 844 P.2d 303, 304 (Utah 1992) (citing *Ward v. Richfield City*, 798 P.2d 757, 79 (Utah 1990)). "An appellate court reviews a trial court's 'legal conclusions and ultimate grant of denial of summary judgment' for correctness, and views 'the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn there-from in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.'" *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, 177 P.3d 600, 601 (citing *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993)).

Preservation of Issue: Mojo Plaintiffs preserved this issue in the record in Plaintiffs Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, (R. 1421-1562); Objection to Proposed Order Granting Summary Judgment, (R. 1731-35); Motion to Set Aside Summary Judgment and Request for Hearing, (R. 1919-1959).

(4) Whether the Trial Court erred in awarding the Fredrickson Defendants their attorney fees when the claims did not require the enforcement or interpretation of the Asset Purchase Agreement and the awarded fees were unreasonable.

Standard of Review: The question of "[w]hether a party is entitled to an award of attorney fees is a legal conclusion . . . which we review for correctness." *IHC Health Servs. v. D & K Mgmt., Inc.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 38, 196 P.3d 588; *see also Meadowbrook, LLC v. Flower*, 959 P.2d 115, 116 (Utah 1998) ("We review a trial court's conclusions of law [regarding attorney fees] for correctness, granting no deference to the trial judge's legal determinations").

Preservation of Issue: Mojo Plaintiffs preserved this issue in the record in their Memo in Opposition to Defendants 2938 LLC's Motion and Memo for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, (R. 1802-1809) and Memo in Opposition to Defendants 2938 LLC's Motion and Memo for Attorney's Fees and Costs, (R. 1862-1894).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO APPEAL

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 7(c)(3)(B) (2011).

(c)(3)(B). A memorandum opposing a motion for summary judgment shall contain a verbatim restatement of each of the moving party's facts that is controverted, and may contain a separate statement of additional facts in dispute. For each of the moving party's facts that is controverted, the opposing party shall provide an explanation of the grounds for any dispute, supported by citation to relevant materials, such as affidavits or discovery materials. For any additional facts set forth in the opposing memorandum, each fact shall be separately stated and numbered

and supported by citation to supposing materials, such as affidavits or discovery materials.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) (2011).

(c) Motions and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case was originally brought by Mojo Plaintiffs against 3928 LLC, John Fredrickson, and Jason Rasmussen². Mojo Plaintiffs brought suit against the Fredrickson Defendants, alleging five causes of action: (1) Rescission based upon Breach of Contract and Fraud, (2) Intentional Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage, (3) Civil Conspiracy, (4) Breach of Fiduciary Duty, and (5) in the alternative, Breach of Contract. Little discovery was performed and Fredrickson Defendants moved for summary judgment on all causes of action. The Trial Court granted summary judgment, in part for Mojo Plaintiffs' alleged failure to comply with Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 7 and 56,

² Rasmussen was a named defendant, but was not served and has not otherwise appeared in the case.

and found this was a negotiated transaction to sell the assets of Mojo Plaintiffs to Fredrickson Defendants.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

Mojo Plaintiffs filed the Complaint with five causes of action: (1) Rescission based upon Breach of Contract and Fraud, (2) Intentional Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage, (3) Civil Conspiracy, (4) Breach of Fiduciary Duty, and (5) in the alternative, Breach of Contract. (R. 1-12.) Mojo Plaintiffs' Complaint alleged the Asset Purchase Agreement was void and procured by deception by the Fredrickson Defendants. Fredrickson Defendants denied the allegations. (R. 15-25.) Fredrickson Defendants filed a motion to conduct expedited discovery and Mojo Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction. (R. 44-44A; 48-65.) These issues were settled by stipulation of the parties.

Very little discovery was conducted and, within five months of the filing of the Complaint, Fredrickson Defendants moved for summary judgment. (R. 699-702.) Fredrickson Defendants were able to take the depositions of Mark Peterson and Judith Peterson, but Mojo Plaintiffs were unable to schedule the deposition of Fredrickson Defendants due to Mr. Fredrickson's travel schedule. Mojo Plaintiffs filed a response. Due to complications with the filing of certain other motions, Mojo Plaintiffs' first response was stricken and the Trial Court granted Mojo Plaintiffs a second opportunity to respond to Fredrickson Defendants' motion for summary judgment.

After the Trial Court held a hearing on the motion for summary judgment, it granted Fredrickson Defendants' motion for summary judgment and dismissed all causes of action. The Court grant the motion for two reasons: (1) Mojo Plaintiffs' failure to

comply with Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 7 and 56 and (2) a finding that the Asset Purchase Agreement was a negotiated contract and Mojo Plaintiffs were not damaged. (R. 1738-43.) Mojo Plaintiffs immediately filed a Notice of Appeal, which was denied as untimely. (R. 1900-03.) The Trial Court also awarded Fredrickson Defendants attorney fees under the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 1904-08.)

Mojo Plaintiffs moved to set aside the summary judgment ruling, in part, based on the failure to fully conduct discovery, which the Trial Court denied. (R. 1919-22; 2104-07.) Mojo Plaintiffs filed this appeal.

Facts established in the District Court Record

1. Mark Peterson is the son of Judith Peterson. (R. 1559.)
2. Mark and Judith Peterson hired Attorney John Bates to form Mojo Syndicate and Bar Named Sue. (R. 1473.)
3. On July 10, 2008, Mr. Bates formed Mojo Syndicate, Inc, and Bar Named Sue, LLC. (R. 1473.)
4. Mojo Syndicate, Inc., is the parent company of Bar Named Sue, LLC. (R. 1453.)
5. Bar Named Sue, LLC, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mojo Syndicate, Inc. (R. 1453.)
6. Mark Peterson was a president of Mojo Syndicate, Inc., (R. 1559), and a manager of Bar Named Sue, LLC, (R. 1452).
7. Judith Peterson wanted to invest in the construction of a bar, named a "Bar Named Sue." (R. 1559.)

8. Judith Peterson personally purchased all of the assets of Mojo Syndicate and Bar Named Sue. (R. 1476, 1479.)

9. In the summer of 2009, Mark Peterson was having difficulty with another principal, Jason Rasmussen. (R. 1559.)

10. Mark Peterson believed Rasmussen was mismanaging the Bar and stealing money from the Bar. (R. 1476.)

11. At the end of August, 2009, Mark Peterson enlisted the help of Fredrickson to remove Rasmussen from the Bar. (R. 1476.)

12. Fredrickson was a former neighbor of Mark and Judith Peterson. (R. 1559.)

13. Mark Peterson knew that Fredrickson has prior experience with running two bars and the two discussed forming a partnership to run the Bar successfully. (R. 1502.)

14. Mark Peterson and Fredrickson discussed the possibility of Fredrickson becoming involved in the operations of A Bar Named Sue. (R. 1476.)

15. Mark Peterson and Fredrickson discussed forming a partnership where both would operate and jointly own A Bar Named Sue. (R. 1476-77; 1559-60.)

16. On September 30, 2009, Mr. Bates drafted a "Certificate of Resolution" and "Certificate of Agency Appointment" to remove Rasmussen from the business and give Fredrickson broad authority over the business. (R. 1473.)

17. On September 30, 2009, the parties executed a number of documents, including Agency Appointment documents, executed by Mark Peterson, on behalf of A Bar Named Sue, Judith Peterson, on behalf of Mojo Syndicate. (R. 1477; 1542-1556.)

18. The purpose of these documents was to have Fredrickson assist in removing Rasmussen from the business and to make Fredrickson and Mark partners in the business. (R. 1502; 1560-61.)

19. Mark Peterson, as manager of Bar Named Sue, LLC, signed a Certificate of Agency Appointment, which appointed Fredrickson as an "authorized agent for the purposes of removing Jason Rasmussen from all factes of the existence and operation of the Company ... and taking such actions as might be deemed by Mr. Fredrickson to be prudent and necessary to secure the Bar Named Sue promises and to establish clear, proper, and appropriate business practices" (R. 1452.)

20. Judith Peterson, as secretary of Mojo Syndicate, Inc., signed an Agency Appointment Agreement, which appointed Fredrickson as an "authorized agent for the purposes of removing Jason Rasmussen from all factes of the existence and operation of the Company ... and taking such actions as might be deemed by Mr. Fredrickson to be prudent and necessary to secure the Bar Named Sue promises and to establish clear, proper, and appropriate business practices" (R. 1453.)

21. The parties also signed a document giving Fredrickson 50 percent ownership interest and control of Mojo Syndicate and A Bar Named Sue. (R. 1502.)

22. The document states that effective October 2, 2009, Fredrickson would "assume 50 per cent [sic] control, ownership, and assigned shares of MOJO SYNDICATE INC., and a BAR NAMED SUE LLC." (R. 1468.)

23. Throughout October 2009, Mark and Judith Peterson and Fredrickson had a few meetings, wherein Fredrickson continued to represent that he and Mark Peterson would be partnership in ownership of Bar Named Sue. (R. 1478.)

24. Fredrickson stated he paid approximately \$40,000.00 to the Bar's vendors, including the landlord, beer and liquor vendors, payments for the fire suppression system, and payments for insurance coverage. (R. 1486.)

25. On October 13, 2009, Judith Peterson and Fredrickson retained Sean Egan to represent Mojo Syndicate in pursuing claims against Rasmussen. (R. 1478.)

26. On October 15, 2009, Fredrickson formed 3928, LLC, naming himself as the only manager. (R. 1462.)

27. On October 22, 2009, Mr. Bates received an email from Mr. Hollingworth with a draft of an asset purchase agreement for Fredrickson's "purchase of A Bar Named Sue assets." (R. 1473.)

28. Mr. Hollingworth sought Mr. Bates' comments on the documents. (R. 1473.)

29. On October 24, 2009, Mr. Bates reviewed the proposed agreement and note, but did not have any knowledge of the transaction and "had not been retained by the Petersons to assist in any transaction." (R. 1474.)

30. On October 26, 2009, Mr. Bates sent an email to Mr. Hollingworth with a few minor comments. (R. 1474.)

31. However, neither Mark Peterson nor Judith Peterson retained Mr. Bates to represent them or Mojo Plaintiffs. (R. 1474.)

32. On October 27, 2009, Fredrickson came to Judith Peterson's home with the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 1478.)

33. Mark Peterson, Judith Peterson, and Fredrickson executed the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R.. 1474.)

34. The Asset Purchase Agreement spells out a purchase price of \$80,000, of which \$40,000 is to be paid at closing. (R. 1542-56.)

35. Judith Peterson received a promissory note for \$40,000. (R. 1543.)

36. However, there is no copy of the executed promissory note. (R. 1556.)

37. The Promissory Note requires Fredrickson Defendants to pay \$40,000.00 to Bar Named Sue in monthly installments of \$2,000.00 until paid in full. (R. 1479.)

38. Additionally, Fredrickson was to receive a dollar-for-dollar credit against the purchase price for all amounts that it advanced to the business to cover operations prior to closing. (R. 1542-56.)

39. It is unknown whether Fredrickson promised he and Mark Peterson would be partners in Bar Named Sue before and after the signing of the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 1505.)

40. Mark Peterson stated Fredrickson promised he and Mark Peterson would be partners of Bar Named Sue. (R. 1505.)

41. Judith Peterson stated her understanding was Mark Peterson would be partners in the Bar with Fredrickson. (R. 1478-79.)

42. On November 10, 2009, the parties signed a Closing Memorandum and assignment and bill of sale. (R. 1557.)

43. The Closing Memorandum acknowledges the name of Bar Named Sue, LLC, was changed to It Could Have Been Fun, LLC. (R. 1557.)

44. The Closing Memorandum states the parties agree to a dollar-for-dollar credit of \$40,000, so no money was required of Fredrickson at closing (R. 1557.)

45. On October 14, 2009, Mojo Plaintiffs filed suit against Rasmussen and Fredrickson Defendants. (R. 1-12.)

46. Mojo Plaintiffs alleged five causes of action, (1) Mojo Plaintiffs filed the Complaint with five causes of action: (1) Rescission based upon Breach of Contract and Fraud, (2) Intentional Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage, (3) Civil Conspiracy, (4) Breach of Fiduciary Duty, and (5) in the alternative, Breach of Contract. (R. 1-12.)

47. Mojo Plaintiffs' Complaint alleged the Asset Purchase Agreement was void and procured by deception by the Fredrickson Defendants. (*Id.*)

48. Fredrickson Defendants denied the allegations. (R. 15-25.)

49. Fredrickson Defendants filed a motion to conduct expedited discovery and Mojo Plaintiffs moved for a preliminary injunction. (R. 44-44A; 48-65.)

50. These issues were settled by stipulation of the parties. (R. 1833-38.)

51. Mojo Plaintiffs then filed a motion to amend the complaint, but Trial Counsel for Mojo Plaintiffs failed to send the motion and accompanying memorandum to opposing counsel. (R. 345-46.)

52. Very little discovery was conducted and, within five months of the filing of the Complaint, Fredrickson Defendants moved for summary judgment. (R. 699-702.)

53. Fredrickson Defendants were able to take the depositions of Mark Peterson and Judith Peterson, but Mojo Plaintiffs were unable to schedule the deposition of Fredrickson Defendants due to Mr. Fredrickson's travel and his girlfriend visiting. (R. 1923-59.)

54. Mojo Plaintiffs filed a Notice to Submit Amended Complaint and Order to File Amended Complaint. (R. 1011-1014.)

55. Trial Counsel for Mojo Plaintiffs filed the Supplemental Amended Complaint. (R. 1015-70.)

56. Mojo Plaintiffs then filed a response to the motion for summary judgment. (R. 1075-1137.)

57. The Court signed the Order allowing Mojo Plaintiffs to file an amended complaint. (R. 1013-14.)

58. After numerous motions were filed by both sides, the Trial Court set aside the order allowing Mojo Plaintiffs leave to file an amended complaint, as well as resolving other motions before the Trial Court. (R. 1393-97.)

59. The Trial Court granted Mojo Plaintiffs a second opportunity to respond to Fredrickson Defendants' motion for summary judgment. (R. 1393-97.)

60. Mojo Plaintiffs filed a second Response to motion for summary judgment. (R. 1421-1562.)

61. Mojo Plaintiffs also filed a motion for further discovery under Rule 56(f), which the Trial Court declined to hear because it was filed untimely. (R. 1723-34; 1738-43.)

62. After a hearing, the Court granted Fredrickson Defendants' motion for summary judgment and dismissed all causes of action. (R. 1738-43.)

63. The Trial Court granted the motion for two reasons: (1) Mojo Plaintiffs' failure to comply with Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 7 and 56 and (2) a finding that the Asset Purchase Agreement was a negotiated contract and Mojo Plaintiffs were not damaged. (R. 1738-43.)

64. Mojo Plaintiffs immediately filed a Notice of Appeal, which was denied as untimely. (R. 1900-03.)

65. The Trial Court also awarded Fredrickson Defendants attorney fees under the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 1904-08.)

66. Mojo Plaintiffs moved to set aside the summary judgment ruling, in part, based on the failure to fully conduct discovery, which the Trial Court denied. (R. 1919-22; 2104-07.)

67. Mojo Plaintiffs filed this appeal. (R. 2113-14.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Fredrickson Defendants and dismissing all Mojo Plaintiffs' claims. First, Mojo Plaintiffs' trial counsel, Charles C. Brown, displayed inappropriate conduct and was likely affected by a disability, which likely affected his representation of Mojo Plaintiffs and caused the Trial Court to incorrectly grant summary judgment. Second, even if this Court determines Mr. Brown's representation was adequate, the Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment because Mojo Plaintiffs' response to the summary judgment motion

substantially complied with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Third, the Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment because genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment. Lastly, the Trial Court erred in awarding Fredrickson Defendants their attorney fees because there was no basis to award attorney fees and the Asset Purchase Agreement was not put "enforced or interpreted" in the case. Therefore, this Court should reverse and remand for a trial on the merits.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should Reverse the Trial Court's Dismissal on Summary Judgment Because Mojo Plaintiffs' Trial Counsel, Charles C. Brown, Displayed Inappropriate Conduct and His Disability Likely Affected His Representation of Mojo Plaintiffs.

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