2011

# Mojo Syndicate Inc., and A Bar Named Sue LLC v. 3928 LLC and John Fredrickson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Lastly, the Mojo Plaintiffs argue that they presented disputed facts that could support the damages aspect of their intentional interference claim. *See Appellants' Brief*, p. 30. The only portion of the record they cite in support of this argument is J. Peterson's unsubstantiated assertion in her affidavit. (R. 1272, ¶ 27.) But the undisputed evidence shows that J. Peterson actually did receive the required monthly payments. (R. 917,

89:5–23; R. 2125, Tr. 34:13–15.) The Mojo Plaintiffs cannot create a dispute of fact to save this claim from summary judgment by contradicting their own sworn deposition testimony with subsequently executed, self-serving affidavit. *Traco Steel*, 2007 UT App 407, ¶ 38. The undisputed evidence shows that the Mojo Plaintiffs agreed to sell the bar's assets to the Fredrickson Defendants for \$80,000.00 and that the Fredrickson Defendants tendered the agreed payment. The Mojo Plaintiffs have not been injured and the district court properly granted summary judgment on this claim.

**C. The district court correctly ruled that no genuine issue of material fact exists regarding the Mojo Plaintiffs' claim for civil conspiracy and properly granted summary judgment.**

The district court correctly granted summary judgment on the Mojo Plaintiffs' claim for civil conspiracy because there is no evidence of any unlawful or wrongful conduct by the Fredrickson Defendants, which is a required element for a civil conspiracy claim. *Peterson v. Delta Air Lines, Inc.*, 2002 UT App 56, ¶ 12, 42 P.3d 1253 (internal quotations omitted). The Mojo Plaintiffs assert that the following three purported facts demonstrate the Fredrickson's wrongful conduct in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy: (i) obtaining the bar's assets without paying full value, (ii) failing to uphold the alleged promise to make M. Peterson a partner in the bar, and (iii) taking assets personally owed by J. Peterson. *See* Appellants' Brief, p. 31. None of these purported facts demonstrates grounds for reversal of the district court's ruling.

The first asserted fact is not unlawful or wrongful. It is undisputed that M. Peterson and J. Peterson voluntarily<sup>5</sup> entered into the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 820–27; R. 772, 177:21–23; R. 916, 72:18–19.) The Mojo Plaintiffs present nothing to suggest that the agreed-upon purchase price was not full value and, even if it were not, the sale for less than full value would not constitute unlawful or wrongful conduct. The second asserted fact fails for the same reason—it does not show unlawful or wrongful conduct. To the extent the Mojo Plaintiffs’ attempt to use this purported fact (which the Fredrickson Defendants do not concede) to show an underlying tort of misrepresentation to support their civil conspiracy claim, such a claim fails because the Mojo Plaintiffs cannot show the required element of reasonable reliance necessary for an intentional misrepresentation claim. *See Gold Standard*, 915 P.2d at 1066–68. Moreover, the undisputed facts show that, whatever may have been said prior to the execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the plain terms of the asset sale were fully disclosed to the Mojo Plaintiffs in the Asset Purchase Agreement itself and no subsequent representations regarding a partnership with M. Peterson were ever made. (R. 768, 156:5–8; R. 766–67, 154:25–155:19; R. 782–83, 232:9–233:2; R. 990–91, ¶¶ 20–25.)

The third asserted fact in support of the civil conspiracy claim likewise fails. At the time of the asset sale, J. Peterson acknowledged that the Mojo Plaintiffs owned the assets and not her personally. (R. 823, ¶¶ 6(a)(iv)–(v).) If J. Peterson did own the assets and the Mojo Plaintiffs unlawfully sold J. Peterson’s personal property to the Fredrickson

---

<sup>5</sup> In this appeal, the Mojo Plaintiffs have abandoned their wholly unsubstantiated duress argument presented to the district court.

Defendants in the Asset Purchase Agreement, that would be unlawful conduct of *the Mojo Plaintiffs*, not the Fredrickson Defendants. There is no evidence that the Fredrickson Defendants had any knowledge, or reason to suspect, that J. Peterson owned the bar's assets personally. Summary judgment was properly granted on this claim.

**D. The district court correctly granted summary judgment on the Mojo Plaintiffs' claim for breach of fiduciary duty.**

In arguing that the Fredrickson Defendants owed them fiduciary duties, the Mojo Plaintiffs rely exclusively on the agreement of October 2, 2009, granting Fredrickson a 50% ownership interest in each of the Mojo Plaintiffs. *See* Appellants' Brief, p. 32 (citing R. 815).<sup>6</sup> This argument misapprehends the nature of the October 2 agreement, which was not a partnership but rather an agreement that granted Fredrickson a 50% ownership interest in each of two companies—Mojo Syndicate, Inc. and Bar Named Sue LLC. (R. 815.) Thus, this document does not establish that the Fredrickson Defendants owed partnership fiduciary duties to the Mojo Plaintiffs, only that Fredrickson become a co-owner of the Mojo Plaintiffs. (*Id.*) The Mojo Plaintiffs also misapprehend the nature of the district court's ruling on this claim when they argue that the court "failed to acknowledge the parties were partners with one another *before* they entered into the Asset Purchase Agreement." *See* Appellants' Brief, p. 32. In its ruling at the hearing on the

---

<sup>6</sup> The Mojo Plaintiffs' brief also argues that Fredrickson owed fiduciary duties to M. Peterson and J. Peterson individually by virtue of the October 2 agreement. However, neither M. Peterson nor J. Peterson is a party to this lawsuit or has personally asserted claims against the Fredrickson Defendants. As such, any possible fiduciary duty owed to M. Peterson or J. Peterson is irrelevant to the Mojo Plaintiffs' claims or whether summary judgment was properly entered against the Mojo Plaintiffs.

Summary Judgment Motion, the court stated that a fiduciary duty may have existed before the Asset Purchase Agreement was executed but that the execution of that agreement in an arms-length transaction superseded any such duty. (R. 2125, Tr. 45:1–5.) As the district court properly observed, “when the parties deal at arm’s length or in an adversarial relationship, no fiduciary relationship can be said to exist.” *Gold Standard*, 915 P.2d at 1064. Thus, any fiduciary relationship that the Fredrickson Defendants may have owed to the Mojo Plaintiffs was superseded by the parties’ negotiation and execution of the fully integrated, unambiguous Asset Purchase Agreement in an arms-length transaction. (R. 820–27; R. 621–22.)

Moreover, even if a fiduciary duty continued during the negotiation and execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the only thing that the Mojo Plaintiffs claim Fredrickson did to breach his alleged duty was fail to inform them of his conduct. *See* Appellants’ Brief, p. 33. The undisputed evidence belies the validity of this argument because it is clear that the Fredrickson Defendants’ actions *were* fully disclosed to the Mojo Plaintiffs, including that the Fredrickson Defendants would acquire a liquor license (R. 824, ¶ 7(a)(ii)), and that M. Peterson would not be a partner with the Fredrickson Defendants or entitled to view the bar’s accounting records after executing the Asset Purchase Agreement (R. 820–27; R. 775, 193:4–13). “Under Utah law, each party has the burden to read and understand the terms of a contract before he or she affixes his or her signature to it. A party may not sign a contract and thereafter assert ignorance or failure to read the contract as a defense.” *ASC Utah, Inc. v. Wolf Mountain Resorts, L.C.*,

2010 UT 65, ¶ 28, 245 P.3d 184. Summary judgment on the Mojo Plaintiffs' claim for breach of fiduciary duty was therefore proper.

**E. The district court properly granted summary judgment on the Mojo Plaintiffs' claim for breach of contract.**

As previously discussed in Part IV.A above, the district court did not err when it granted summary judgment on the Mojo Plaintiffs' fifth claim asserting breach of contract. On appeal, the Mojo Plaintiffs' point to the allegations of their complaint in support of their argument that summary judgment on this claim should be reversed. *See* Appellants' Brief, pp. 33–34. However, “where the movant supports a motion for summary judgment with affidavits or other sworn evidence, the nonmoving party may not rely on bare allegations from the pleadings to raise a dispute of fact.” *Poteet v. White*, 2006 UT 63, ¶ 7, 147 P.3d 439. Thus, the Mojo Plaintiffs' allegations in the complaint do not provide a basis for reversal of the summary judgment award.

Similarly, the purported facts asserted by the Mojo Plaintiffs do not establish a dispute of material fact. Again, they rely on the affidavit statement of J. Peterson regarding Fredrickson's supposed statement about the payments he would make. *See* Appellants' Brief, p. 34 (citing R. 1272, ¶ 27.) As discussed, however, this subsequent affidavit testimony contradicts J. Peterson's deposition testimony in which she acknowledged having received the \$2,000.00 monthly payments specified under the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 917, 89:5–23.) The Mojo Plaintiffs' own counsel acknowledged before the district court that he had deposited the payments into his firm's trust account. (R. 2125, Tr. 34:13–15.) It is undisputed that J. Peterson's assertion that

Fredrickson agreed to pay M. Peterson \$3,000.00 each month under the table has no support in the record and, in fact, is directly contradicted by the unambiguous payment terms of the fully integrated Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 821, § 2.)

The Mojo Plaintiffs also make a novel assertion in arguing for reversal of this claim on appeal—that it may have been a breach of contract for the Fredrickson Defendants to not provide an accounting of the \$40,000.00 credit agreed to by the parties in the Closing Memorandum. *See* Appellants’ Brief, p. 34. Notably, the Mojo Plaintiffs do not cite to any provision of the Asset Purchase Agreement, or the other related documents, in support of this argument. Rather, they simply speculate that “if” the Fredrickson Defendants had made such a promise and broken it, that broken promise could constitute a breach of contract. *See id.* However, there is simply no provision of the Asset Purchase Agreement, or the related documents, that required the Fredrickson Defendants to provide such an accounting. (R. 820–27.) To the extent the Mojo Plaintiffs are attempting to salvage their breach of contract claim by alleging a new, verbal agreement to provide an accounting beyond what is specified in the Asset Purchase Agreement, such a claim is beyond the scope of their pleadings and was not raised with the district court below and, regardless, any such purported agreement would not be supported by consideration and would be precluded by the integration clause of the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. 825, ¶ 13.)

Most importantly, the undisputed evidence in the record demonstrates that both J. Peterson and M. Peterson (acting on behalf of the Mojo Plaintiffs) agreed that the amount of the credit given to the Fredrickson Defendants’ at closing—as memorialized in the

Closing Memorandum—was \$40,000.00. (R. 835.) As the Utah Supreme Court recently stated, “[p]ersons dealing at arm’s length are entitled to contract on their own terms without the intervention of the courts for the purpose of relieving one side or the other from the effects of a bad bargain. . . . It is not our prerogative to step in and renegotiate the contract of the parties.” *Commercial Real Estate Inv., L.C. v. Comcast of Utah II, Inc.*, 2012 UT 49, ¶ 38, --- P.3d ----. The district court did not err when it ruled that the undisputed facts show that the Fredrickson Defendants did not breach their contractual obligations to the Mojo Plaintiffs and the court properly granted summary judgment on this claim.

**V. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE DISTRICT COURT’S AWARD OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES IN FAVOR OF THE FREDRICKSON DEFENDANTS.**

**A. Whether a party is entitled to recover its attorneys’ fees pursuant to a contractual provision is reviewed by this Court for correctness, but the amount of reasonable attorneys’ fees awarded is reviewed by this Court for abuse of discretion.**

“Whether a party is entitled to an award of attorney fees is a legal conclusion—in this case a matter of contract interpretation—which [this appellate court] review[s] for correctness.” *IHC Health Services, Inc. v. D&K Management, Inc.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 38, 196 P.3d 588. However, once a party’s right to recover attorneys’ fees has been determined, the “[c]alculation of reasonable attorneys fees is in the sound discretion of the trial court . . . and will not be overturned [on appeal] in the absence of a showing of a clear abuse of discretion.” *Dixie State Bank v. Bracken*, 764 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1988).

The Mojo Plaintiffs misstate the applicable standard of review applicable to this issue when they assert that only the correctness standard of review applies to their appeal of the district court's attorneys' fee award. *See* Appellants' Brief, p. 4. They also take the language of *Meadowbrook, LLC v. Flower*, 959 P.2d 115 (Utah 1998), out of context when identifying the standard of review. The *Meadowbrook* court's actual statement dealt with the legal issue of the waiver of a request for attorneys' fees, not the standard of review of the district court's award of attorneys' fees. *Meadowbrook*, 959 P.2d at 116 ("A trial court's conclusion that a request for attorney fees is waived if not made at trial is a legal conclusion. We review a trial court's conclusions of law for correctness, granting no deference to the trial judge's legal determinations.").

In this appeal, the Mojo Plaintiffs' argument is two-fold. First, they argue that the Fredrickson Defendants are not entitled to recover their attorneys' fees in connection with defending against the non-contract claims. *See* Appellants' Brief, p. 35. This first argument presents a matter of contractual interpretation and therefore is reviewed for correctness. Second, they also argue that the amount of the fees awarded to the Fredrickson Defendants was unreasonable. *See id.* pp. 35–36. The standard of review applicable to this second argument is abuse of discretion.

**B. The Mojo Plaintiffs failed to preserve their argument that the Fredrickson Defendants are not entitled to recover attorneys' fees incurred defending against the non-contract claims.**

This Court should not consider the Mojo Plaintiffs' argument that the Fredrickson Defendants are not entitled to recover their attorneys' fees incurred defending against the non-contract claims because the argument was not preserved below. An appellate court

“generally will not consider an issue unless it has been preserved for appeal. . . . An issue is preserved for appeal when it has been presented to the district court in such a way that the court has an opportunity to rule on [it].” *Patterson v. Patterson*, 2011 UT 68, ¶ 12, 266 P.3d 828 (internal quotation omitted; second alteration in original). This “puts the trial judge on notice of the asserted error and allows for correction at that time in the course of the proceeding.” *438 Main Street v. East Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801. “For a trial court to be afforded an opportunity to correct the error (1) the issue must be raised in a timely fashion[,], (2) the issue must be specifically raised[,], and (3) the challenging party must introduce supporting evidence or relevant legal authority.” *Id.* (internal quotation omitted; alterations in original). “Issues that are not raised at trial are usually deemed waived.” *Id.*

The Mojo Plaintiffs point to two places where they claim to have preserved their challenge to the award of attorneys’ fees to the Fredrickson Defendants—the two opposing memoranda that they filed in opposition to the Fredrickson Defendants’ submission of attorneys’ fees. (R. 1802–09; R. 1862–94.) However, in both of these opposing memoranda the Mojo Plaintiffs argue only that the amount of the fee award is unreasonable—they do not argue that that Fredrickson Defendants should not be permitted to recover attorneys’ fees incurred defending against the non-contract claims. (*Id.*) As such, the argument was not presented to the district and that court did not have the opportunity to rule on it. The Mojo Plaintiffs have therefore waived this argument and it should not be considered for the first time on appeal. The only issue properly

before this Court regarding the award of attorneys' fees is the reasonableness of the amount of the award, which is reviewed for abuse of discretion.

**C. The district court's award of attorneys' fees was not an abuse of discretion but was reasonable in light of the manner in which the Mojo Plaintiffs asserted their claims before the district court.**

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